
Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for 
Housing Briefing  
 
Dear Member, 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead 
Member for Housing Briefing to be held as follows for the transaction of the business 
indicated. 
David Wilcock 
Monitoring Officer  

 
An audio broadcast of this meeting will be live-streamed. 
 
Should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, which will 
be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by sending an 
email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 
 
Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place. 
 
Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus 

 
DATE: Tuesday, 15 June 2021 
 
TIME:  1.00 pm 
 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting – the audio live-stream of the meeting can 

be accessed via the link below. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 THE LIVE AUDIO BROADCAST CAN BE ACCESSED VIA THE 
LINK BELOW: 
This link will work if you are using a Microsoft device. If you are using 
an Apple or android based device, you will need to download the 
Microsoft Teams app in order to view the meeting via this link. 
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-
join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYz
EzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%
2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-
3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-
a319-
8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&bt
ype=a&role=a 
 

 

1   Apologies for absence.  
 

 

2   Declarations of interest.  
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDkwMTE3MDctZWY2OC00NWQ5LWE4YjAtYzEzYWE2NzY4ZmE4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


 

3   Item for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public):  
 

 

3a A report on the proposal to secure funding for a housing allocations 
Occupational Therapist pilot post, and subject to award, a 12-month 
pilot to test the effectiveness of a panel approach to the allocation of 
accessible and adapted housing.  
 

(Pages 1 - 18) 

4   Exclusion of the Public.  
 

 

5   Items for Decision (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No items.  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Claire Edwards 
Tel No:  
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


 1 

 

 
 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF PLACE and 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PEOPLE 

 
 

TO THE STATUTORY DEPUTY CITY MAYOR AND LEAD MEMBER FOR HOUSING  

 
 

On 15th June 2021 

 
 

TITLE:  
A report on the proposal to secure funding for a housing allocations Occupational Therapist 
pilot post, and subject to award, a 12-month pilot to test the effectiveness of a panel 
approach to the allocation of accessible and adapted housing.  

 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Statutory Deputy City Mayor/Lead Member Housing is asked to: 
 

a) Note the work conducted to examine the challenges in allocating accessible and 
adapted housing in Salford, and 

b) Agree progression of work to secure funding for a dedicated housing allocations 
Occupational Therapy pilot post, employed by SRFT, and 

c) Approve, subject to funding award, a 12-month pilot to test a new panel approach to 
the allocation of adapted and accessible homes 
 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
In response to the Housing Strategy Action Plan, a multi-disciplinary group, including: 
registered housing providers (RP’s), children’s and adults occupational therapists (OT’s), 
housing options and homelessness officers and strategic housing services have worked 
together to identify and examine the challenges to allocating accessible and adapted 
housing, and consider how these could be resolved. 
 
This work has resulted in two key recommendations: 

1. The first is to try to secure funding for a dedicated housing allocations OT pilot post 
for 12 months, employed by SRFT Community OT Service,  
 

2. The second, subject to securing that funding, is a 12-month pilot to test a change in 
the way in which some accessible/adapted housing is allocated, from the current 
bidding system to an allocations panel approach.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 1 - Open to the Public 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



 2 

 
1.    Background and case for change 
 
1.1 Adapted and accessible housing, within the context of this report, refers to housing 

which is allocated in the Accessible Accommodation Category of Salford Home Search 
and which includes: 

 SN1 – fully wheelchair adapted housing for wheelchair dependent applicants 

 SN3 – level access accommodation, to and through-out the property 

 SN4 – Accommodation which is only access by and/or within via a small number 
of steps. 

It should be noted that the SN2 category is no longer used due to the difficulties 
experienced in defining that category. 
 

1.2 Concerns were highlighted about the allocation of accessible/adapted housing during the 
production of Salford’s most recent housing strategy: our home, our city 2020-2025, 
which resulted in this piece of work being included in the delivery plan. 

 
1.2 A strategic group was set up which included involvement from the following, with  
      those in bold forming the core group:  

Adult and children’s community occupational therapy services 
Housing Options Service Salford City Council (SCC) 
ForHousing  
Salix Homes  
Housing Strategy Team (SCC) 
Adult Social and Intermediate Care 
MSV Housing 
Temporary Accommodation Team (SCC) 
Equipment and Adaptations Services 
Adult Social Care Neighbourhoods and Contact Team 

       
1.3 Existing Challenges  
 

The group explored and examined the challenges to allocating accessible and adapted 
housing. The details of this analysis can be found in Appendix A, but in summary these 
included: 

 
a. A severe housing shortage: There is a severe shortage of accessible and adapted 

housing with a consistent reduction over recent years in the numbers of homes 
available for let, mirrored by a consistently high number of applicants in need of this 
type of housing, overall. 
 

b. Difficult decisions regarding adaptations works: There is a fine balance between 
whether to adapt existing homes, when the property may not be suitable in the long 
term (due to changing needs over time), against the cost of adaptations and the 
challenges in the long term to find another suitable household for the adapted 
property, weighed against the potential wait for years on the housing register for 
other more suitable housing if the property is not adapted. 

 
c. Refusal of adaptations: Some RP’s have been known to withdraw offers of 

accommodation after refusing adaptations to make a property suitable for a new 
household. However, it is often unlikely that properties for many SN11 households 
will become available that will require no additional investment, due to the applicants 
very specific needs (particularly children). These are often the most complex cases 
in Salford and given the severe shortage of accessible/adapted homes it may be 

                                            
1 SN1 – wheelchair accessible/adapted housing 

Page 2



 3 

necessary to consider how homes can be made suitable through adaptations 
investment. 
 

d. Internal management moves: Some accessible/adapted homes are being utilised by 
housing providers for internal management moves, and SCC/OT officers are of the 
opinion that residents living in the private rented sector are disadvantaged by this 
approach as they can never be considered for an internal management move – 
making these moves something of a postcode lottery and therefore potentially 
inequitable. 

 
e. Bureaucratic, ineffective processes: The current choice-based lettings scheme does 

not lend itself to the matching of available adapted properties to disabled applicants 
who most need them, and the resulting best use of assets.  

 
RP’s report that they often have to wade through significant numbers of bidders, 
before they identify an applicant who is actually potentially suitable for a property. 
Even then many properties get offered to 2 or 3 people before a final offer can be 
made. 
 
As a result of the difficulties matching homes to suitable bidders some adaptations 
are refused by RP’s post provisional offer of accommodation, resulting in offers of 
accommodation being withdrawn, with resulting negative impact on households. 

 
Furthermore, some RP’s have had to remove adaptations/equipment when 
properties become vacant because of the difficulties matching properties to bidders, 
using the existing choice-based lettings system. Bidders often do not require or are 
not suitable for that specific adaptation/equipment.  

 
A case study example of some of the difficulties are highlighted here: 
 

A 4-bed house, that is not wheelchair adapted inside, but has a through the 
floor lift and wet room upstairs, becomes available. 

 
Advertised as an SN3 (level access property – because of the lack of 
wheelchair access). 

 
The first set of bidders included: 

 2 x SN1 applicants – who need wheelchair accessible 
accommodation, who therefore are unlikely to be unsuitable for 
the property due to the lack of wheelchair access 

 1 x SN4 applicant who could manage some steps, who is 
therefore unlikely to be in need of, or even want a through the 
floor lift 

 1 x SN3 applicant who doesn’t need a 4-bedroom property – so 
the property would be under occupied. 

 No other SN3 bids were made 
 

f. Appropriate and detailed assessment of applicant’s needs: Currently, an applicant on 
Salford Home Search self-assesses using a medical assessment form. No medical 
report or OT assessment is required. Some applicants have (or have had in the past) 
an O.T but the majority do not, this can be a purely a self-assessment process.  

 
There is clearly a need to ensure that this scarce resource is allocated to those who 
most need it to ensure best use of assets and members of the strategic group were 
unanimous in considering the practice of self-assessment to be inappropriate, given 
this scarce resource. Particularly given the experience that many households either 
under or over report their needs. 

Page 3



 4 

 
As a rule of thumb – there is a 10-month waiting time for OT assessments and the 
service is not commissioned to undertake assessments of the suitability of proposed 
offers, with no capacity to fast track this type of assessment. 
 

 
2.1 Options Appraisal  
 
2.1 All members of the strategic group were in agreement that the current choice based 

lettings approach was not the most appropriate, effective or timely for ensuring the best 
match of what is an extremely small supply of homes to those vulnerable people who 
need them and that an options appraisal should take place to identify the most equitable 
and effective method of allocating homes to disabled people. 

 
2.2 An options appraisal was conducted, detailed in Appendix B, and the following 

recommendations were identified: 
 

a. The need for specific housing allocation OT input: 
 
All members of the strategic group agreed that OT involvement is essential in the 
process to: 

 Ensure those prioritised for adapted/accessible homes do need it and their true 
needs are established in detail from an early stage or can be reviewed in a timely 
manner if required 

 Ensure that available accommodation is properly matched to those who need 
them, making best use of assets. 

 
This cannot be achieved through existing services due to commissioning 
arrangements and current service demands. 

 
Appendix C summarises how 4 local authorities who responded to a call for 
information, all benefit from specific occupational therapy input into housing 
allocations. 
 
Following internal discussion, OT managers advised that Community OT’s are a 
specialist service and it takes several years to develop that expertise, and to train a 
private/agency OT to the level required, would take time and could not be carried out 
as a quick fix. There would also be a financial cost for this training.  
 
They recommended the most appropriate action would be to employ a housing 
allocations specific OT based within the community OT team. This OT could progress 
housing need assessments of applicants to inform the type of housing needed and 
assess the suitability of available homes, contributing to the matching and allocation 
of those homes. 
      

A full-time OT post would cost in the region of £50k (including on-costs).  
 
Basing the dedicated housing OT post within the existing (Independent Living 
Service), enables them to benefit from the Professional and case management 
supervision and training available there, facilitating leave cover and enabling 
alignment of practice.  However, this would also include an element of 
management/oversight and close alignment (including some elements of co-location 
– post pandemic) with the Housing Options Service to ensure that the role is able to 
respond to the service requirements in a flexible manner. 
 
Following discussion at Salford Strategic Housing Partnership a recommendation was 
made to pursue a bid for CCG Innovation Funding to fund a 12-month housing 

Page 4



 5 

allocation’s dedicated OT pilot post, recruited and employed by the community OT 
service.  
 
In addition, the Integrated Care Organisation is also reviewing and revisiting their 
business case for the existing community OT service, and it makes sense (as 
recommended by People’s Directorate senior managers/joint commissioners) to 
establish these required OT functions within this new business case in order to 
ensure longevity of future funding, and as a further option should the CCG Innovation 
fund bid prove to be unsuccessful. 
 
CCG Innovation funding remains an option of choice in the first instance, in order to 
enable the catch up on outstanding/backlog of applicant assessments within the first 
12 months (please see Appendix D for how these assessments will be prioritised), to 
ensure applicants are properly prioritised for the correct type of housing. 
 

b. The need to develop a panel approach to better inform the allocation of all 
wheelchair adapted / accessible homes.  

 
All members of the strategic group were in agreement that a panel approach would 
be a more effective and less bureaucratic approach to the allocation of accessible 
and adapted homes. 
 
With key stakeholders around the table this approach enables significantly better 
understanding of applicant’s needs, what is already available within the property, as 
well as how the property could be adapted. This approach enables the best method 
of matching those: in greatest need, waiting the longest, who best match what the 
property has/could offer.  
 
Furthermore, all those cases who would normally be considered for an internal 
management move could equally be discussed at the panel, with needs discussed 
within the context of wider applicant’s needs, so that the most informed and equitable 
decisions can be made.  

 
2.3 The strategic group were of the opinion that the allocation of SN3 (level access) and 

SN4 (access via a few steps) x 1 and 2 bedroom homes tend to be more straightforward 
(due to the nature of the properties and applicant’s needs), and due to the numbers 
involved it is considered that the existing choice-based lettings system is the most 
appropriate method of letting these properties currently. 

 
2.4 However, the group are of the opinion that due to the very specific, often complex needs 

of disabled people and the extremely short supply of family sized accessible 
accommodation,  any changes should at this stage focus on all the SN1 (wheelchair 
adapted), and 3 bedroom plus - SN3 and SN4 client groups, to ensure the best, most 
effective approach. 

 
2.5 However, the success of the panel approach is considered dependent on securing 

funding for the O.T post. The group are of the opinion that this post is key to the delivery 
of the effective service and therefore the recommendations are subject to the successful 
bid for funding. 

 
2.6 These recommendations are not linked specifically to savings within services thus a cost   

benefit analysis cannot be conducted. The benefits are wider ranging and qualitative, as 
described above, but in summary include: 

 A more appropriate, accountable process for assessing and prioritising 
applications for accessible/adapted housing – ensuring those who need this 
scarce resource are properly prioritised for it. 

Page 5



 6 

 A more informed, effective, equitable and transparent approach to the 
allocation of housing, which better matches homes to those who need them, 
with the knock-on effect of: 

o Improved use of staff resources/reduced bureaucracy – by reducing 
repeated offers on the same property 

o Improved customer experience – by reducing withdrawals of offers 
o The allocation of homes which meet the needs of customers better 
o Potential for the reduction in unnecessary removal of equipment, along 

with their associated costs. 
o Best use of assets 
o Improved service reputation. 

 
2.7 This proposal has been discussed at length with Salford Strategic Housing Partnership 

(SSHP) on 15th December 2020 and 2nd March 2021. Ten housing providers are invited 
to SSHP and receive the minutes to the meeting. 
 

2.8 At the meeting the partners were in agreement that CCG Innovation fund monies should 
be sought in the first instance to fund the OT post and subject to approval, the panel 
approach should be piloted and tested for its effectiveness. 
 

2.9 In addition to, discussion at SSHP and formal notification via email, the Registered 
Providers have also been communicated the proposals (and provided with opportunity to 
comment on these) via the choice-based lettings partnership meeting. 

 
2.10  Democratic services advise us that as this is a 12 month pilot to test the new approaches 

and not a permanent change, this does not constitute a key decision. 
 

 
3.0 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Deputy City Mayor/Lead Member for housing is asked to agree progression of work to 

secure funding for a dedicated housing allocations Occupational Therapy pilot 
post/functions, employed by SRFT, and approve, subject to funding award, a 12-month 
pilot to test a new panel approach to the allocation of adapted and accessible homes - 
Appendix D details the procedural changes. 

 
3.1 A temporary change in the Allocations Policy would be required for the 12-month pilot 

period, for the affected households. 
 
3.2 All affected applicants and Registered Housing Providers will be notified of the 

changes/pilot.  
 
3.4 Continuous evaluation will take place throughout the 12-month period, to measure a 

range of outcomes including (where possible): 

 Average waiting times for re-housing 

 Lettings timescales 

 Individual case studies for qualitative intelligence 

 A record of aids and adaptations removed from properties, and the reason for 
removal 

 Customer satisfaction  
 

 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
Salford’s Allocations policy 

 
 

Page 6



 7 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: The production of an Equality 
Impact Assessment has been completed the proposals will help to improve equality 
outcomes in the housing sector for those with complex needs who require adapted or family 
accessible homes. 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Medium – The proposals are dependent upon securing funding for 
the OT pilot post – the learning from the pilot will be used to inform a case for longer term 
implementation, including securing that longer term OT funding. 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Ann Warburton: When modifying the Allocation 
Scheme regard must be had to the current tenancy and homelessness strategies. If the 
alteration is a major change of policy the Council must bring it to the attention of those likely 
to be affected by it. A copy of the proposed amended scheme would need to be sent to every 
RP with whom a nomination arrangement is held and ensure they have a reasonable 
opportunity to comment on the proposal.

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The proposals are dependent upon and subject to successfully 
securing (CCG Innovation Fund/reviewed services) funding for the OT pilot post. 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A – the OT post will be employed by the Integrated Care 
Organisation. 

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Consultation has taken place with key 
stakeholders  

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Julie Craik X 2143 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 8 

Appendix A: Details of the issues relating to the allocation of adapted and accessible  
                       housing. 
 
 

A.  A severe shortage of accessible and adapted housing: 
 
Salford Home Search (SHS) data evidences that the need and demand for 
affordable, accessible/adapted accommodation far out-weighs the availability of that 
housing, particularly in the SN1 (wheelchair adapted) category and those requiring 
accessible family homes (3 plus bedrooms).  
 
In fact, it is safe to say that these types of accommodation are in severe shortage. 
Unfortunately, due to changes in officers, more recent data is not currently available. 
However, trends within Salford Home Search over the years has seen a consistent 
reduction in the numbers of homes available for let, mirrored by a consistently high 
number of applicants overall. 

 
1. SHS accessible accommodation lets by bedroom size 2019/20 

     
  Bedrooms          

Type of accommodation 0 1 2 3 4 
 
Total 

SN1- Wheelchair adapted  5 7 2  14 

SN3 – Level access no steps 1 12 5   18 

SN4 – Accessed via a few steps 1 135 40 1  177 

Sub -Total  2 152 52 3   209 
 
 
 

2. SHS registered applicants in need of accessible accommodation by         
bedroom size required - 2020  

 Bedroom size            

Type of accommodation needed  1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

SN1- Wheelchair adapted 68 36 25 8 2  139 

SN3 – Level access no steps 126 44 12 7 2  191 

SN4 – Accessed via a few steps 688 177 47 3  1 916 

Grand Total 882 257 84 18 4 1 1246 
Source:  SHS June 2020  
        

 
 

3. The numbers of registrations for housing have remained consistently 
high, with many people in competition for the same properties, when the 
numbers of properties becoming available remains limited.  

 

 Total active 
applications 
for all 
properties 
(date 
snapshot) 

Active 
accessible 
accommodation 
applications 
(date snapshot) 

Average bids 
per (all types 
of) property 
during the 
previous 12 
month period  

Total number 
of (all types 
of) properties 
advertised 
during the 
previous 12 
month period  

Dec 2017 6972 1414 29 (2017) 1695 

Jan 2019 5960 1370 47 (2018) 1294 

May 2020 5807 1274 59 (2019) 1310  

Page 8



 9 

 
This is set within the context that at any one time there are around 5500-6000 active 
applicants registered for all types of housing, while during a 12-month period there 
are only (roughly) around 1000-1500 properties in total available for advertisement. 

 
B.  Difficult decisions about whether to adapt existing homes or seek alternative   

 housing: 
 
RP’s often have to make difficult decisions when there is a fine balance between 
adapting an existing home when the property may not be suitable for the household 
in the long term (due to changing needs over time). RP’s have to balance the initial 
cost of adaptations and the challenges in the future when it becomes vacant - of 
finding a suitable household for the adapted property and the potential cost to 
removing unwanted adaptations. This is weighed against whether the wait 
(potentially for years) for other more suitable housing can be justified for the 
household, while they live in unsuitable housing. 
 

C. Some adaptations are refused by RP’s which has resulted in offers of 
accommodation being withdrawn: 
 
Some RP’s have been known to withdraw offers of accommodation after refusing 
adaptations to make a property suitable for a new household. However, it is often 
unlikely that properties for many SN12 households will become available that will 
require no additional investment, due to the applicants very specific needs 
(particularly children in need). These are often the most complex cases in Salford 
and given the severe shortage of accessible/adapted homes it may be necessary to 
consider how homes can be made suitable through adaptations investment. 
 
Withdrawal of offers always has the potential to have significant detrimental impact 
on households who have already been waiting for a long time for an offer of 
accommodation, while also living in unsuitable housing. 

 
D. Internal management moves: 

 
Some accessible/adapted homes are being utilised by housing providers for internal 
management moves. It is accepted that those moves are in extreme cases and that 
RP’s owe their residents a duty of care. However, SCC/OT officers remain 
concerned that: 

 those internal households may not always have the greatest level of need 

 there may be other families in greater housing need or who are in greater 
hardship due to their need to move  

 there may be other households who have been waiting significantly longer 
for a suitable home, on the housing register.  

 
Furthermore, SCC/OT officers are of the opinion that residents living in the private 
rented sector are disadvantaged by this approach as they can never be considered 
for an internal management move – making these moves something of a postcode 
lottery and therefore inequitable. It should be noted that this opinion is not shared by 
all the housing providers. 
 

E. Unnecessary removal of aids and adaptations 
 
It is accepted that equipment sometimes must be removed from empty properties 
because it is no longer serviceable. However, some RP’s have had to remove 
adaptations/equipment when properties become vacant because those who have 

                                            
2 SN1 – wheelchair accessible/adapted housing 

Page 9



 10 

bid, using the existing choice-based lettings system, have not required or been 
suitable for that specific adaptation/equipment.  

 
There are many nuances associated with adaptations. Stairlifts are just one 
example, where there are many different kinds of stairlifts each with different 
specifications/features including controls and the fixing, movement of seats, all of 
which are not necessarily suitable for everyone with a disability. In addition, people 
are measured for chairlifts, as one might be for a wheelchair. Officers are of the view 
that even a more detailed property advert could not be sufficient and bespoke 
enough to enable the effective matching with disabled applicants, using the current 
systems, because of the wide variety of different specifications available. A property 
advert simply could not be made sufficiently detailed and clear to properly inform 
disabled people so that suitable bids could be guaranteed, and this makes the 
bidding system ineffective. 
 
In addition, housing providers report experiencing many occasions when bidders 
have stated that they did not want/need a particular adaptation which was within a 
property and/or that they had not in fact read the advert properly. 

 
In particular, Salix Homes (although no doubt not alone in this) identify particular 
difficulties letting 2- & 3-bedroom properties with stair lifts. Stair lifts require an 
expert assessment by an OT to ensure that they are suitable and safe for a 
customer and their needs. The current O.T service is not able to provide these 
assessments. As a result, Salix Homes are removing the majority of all stair lifts, 
prior to advertisement and generally letting the properties to those with general 
needs. Forhousing currently remove all stairlifts when their properties become 
vacant due to the considerable difficulties in matching these to people who need 
them under the current processes. Many of these properties have wet rooms and 
this is not the best use of these scarce assets.  

 
The costs for removal of equipment are born by the housing provider either through 
their direct removal internally or through service level agreement contributions. The 
cost of removing stairlifts averages between £70.00 - £120 depending on the type. 
Hoists are approximately the same cost, while steplifts are approximately £300 plus 
any associated building works, and vertical lifts cost approximately £1400 (including 
making good the building structure), to remove. RP’s are not currently able to advise 
on how many pieces of equipment of this kind are removed each year, although it is 
not thought to be a significant number of properties. However, an improved 
approach would without doubt enable better use of these scarce assets, reduce the 
costs of unnecessary equipment removal and help to improve customer experience. 
 

F. Bureaucratic, ineffective processes 
 
The current bidding / allocation processes do not lend themselves to the matching of 
available adapted properties to disabled applicants who most need them, and the 
resulting best use of assets.  
 
Where there are households who require 3 plus bedroom accessible housing and 
anyone who requires a wheelchair adapted home, these tend to be complex cases.   
 
Every single person and their particular needs are different and every single 
property is different, from the: use of each individual aid and adaptation already in 
the property, to the availability of turning circles inside, space for ramps up to a 
property, access into the property and space needed for additional equipment (to 
mention just a few of the issues for consideration). 
 

Page 10



 11 

Due to the difficulties in matching suitable homes to those who need them, under 
the current approach, up to 3 or 4 properties could be provisionally offered to an 
applicant before a suitable final property is identified. In other words one property 
being provisionally offered to up to 3 - 4 people before a final offer is made. 
 
This has a subsequent impact on OT involvement, R.P staff resources and on the 
applicants, who have usually been waiting a very long time and who’s morale can be 
severely affected by the withdrawal of the offer. This can also have a reputational 
impact on services. 

 
Not only does this make the bidding system ineffective, but it also makes the bidding 
system bureaucratic. RP’s are reporting that they often have to wade through 
significant numbers of bidders/applicants, before they identify an applicant who is 
actually potentially suitable for a property. Even then many properties get offered to 
2 or 3 people before a final offer can be made. 

 
We as a multi-disciplinary team are eager to ensure the best use of assets and to 
ensure that allocations are cost effective, suitable and sustainable into the long 
term. 
 
An OT assessment is required to ensure that whichever applicant is offered the 
property, it is suitable for them and they are able to use the through floor lift and will 
not require a larger turning circle/door access than is available. 
 
Current OT services are not commissioned to conduct and cannot prioritise these 
assessments. In this instance the RP will need to purchase their own private OT 
assessment. 
 

G. Appropriate and detailed assessment of applicant’s needs: 
 

Currently, an applicant on Salford Home Search self-assesses using a medical 
assessment form and the applicant is assigned a category for either: wheelchair 
accessible (SN1), level access (SN3) or accommodation (with a small number of 
steps) (SN4) - based on that self-assessment. No medical report or OT assessment 
is required. Some applicants have (or have had in the past) an O.T but the majority 
do not, this can be a purely a self-assessment process.  
 
There is clearly a need to ensure that this scarce resource is allocated to those who 
most need it to ensure best use of assets and members of the strategic group were 
unanimous in considering the practice of self-assessment to be inappropriate, given 
this scarce resource. 
 
As a rule of thumb – there is a 10-month waiting time for OT assessments. 
 
In addition, OT service managers have confirmed that as the service is not 
commissioned to undertake assessments of the suitability of proposed offers, there is 
no capacity to fast track this type of assessment.  
 
The Community OT process involves closing a case once all recommendations have 
been completed. OT’s generally do not keep cases open if they are not actively 
working with the client. It is therefore very unlikely that a case would be open to an 
OT, at the same time as a potential offer of accommodation becomes available. 
 
Currently, the only option(s) that are available is: information from a previous OT 
assessment, which may be years old and therefore out of date, but if more recent 
may help to inform decision making, or the requirement by RP’s to commission their 
own private OT assessment of the suitability of the property. It should be noted that 

Page 11



 12 

an OT assessment of an applicants’ needs alone, may not go far enough to be able 
to inform whether a specific property is suitable or not because every person and 
property are different. 
 
Clients may have changing needs and it may be necessary to review clients 
periodically, to ensure that appropriate offers are made. However, there is no 
provision for this currently, that would prove timely enough, when properties become 
available. 
 
There is no clear pathway for housing officers to request OT assessments (not even 
withstanding the 10 month wait) to support rehousing and time can be spent 
contacting various services that the client may be known to, but which often do not 
prove sufficiently informative. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 13 

Appendix B: An options appraisal  
 

A. The need for specific housing allocation OT input: 
 
All members of the strategic group agreed that OT involvement is essential in the 
process to: 

 Ensure those prioritised for adapted/accessible homes do need it and their true 
needs are established in detail from an early stage or can be reviewed in a timely 
manner if required 

 Ensure that available accommodation is properly matched to those who need 
them, making best use of assets. 

 
This cannot be achieved through existing services due to commissioning 
arrangements and current service demands. 

 
Following internal discussion, OT managers (including Angie Allan Principal Manager 
Independent Living Services) have provided the following advice in relation to the 
options available. 
 
The Community OT’s are a specialist service and it takes several years to develop 

that expertise, and to train a private/agency OT to the level required, would take time 

and could not be carried out as a quick fix. There would also be a financial cost for 

this training. 

 

 OT involvement through an agency: 
An agency OT could conduct assessments of housing need. However, the 
complexity of the DFG regulations require a unique set of skills, as does the 
understanding of the options available, and these are considered to be outside the 
scope of an agency OT. 
This OT would not be able to agree, approve or progress adaptations, therefore, 
the process would stall at assessment stage. OT input would need to be able to 
keep hold of cases for 2-3 months and manage the process with the surveyor until 
completion – this would not be possible via agency OT. 

 

 Employ an additional/specific OT based within the community OT team: 
This OT could progress housing need and suitability assessments of all new 
applicants. 
The service could ensure that this OT has the unique skills required and the ability 
to agree, approve, progress and oversee adaptations. 
 

bi: a part time post – 
Is considered likely to prove challenging for the service with no ability to cover 
leave, including annual or sick leave, due to the severe capacity issues within 
the existing service. 

 
bii: a full-time post – it is suggested initially for 12 months as a pilot 
o Would facilitate cover during leave. 
o Would enable all SN1 applicants and families in need of accessible housing to 

be properly assessed to ensure those prioritised are actually in need, what 
those needs are and to review any changes in need that take place overtime. 

o Would enable timely suitability advice for all SN1 and accessible family homes 
o Would - long term - enable greater input into decisions about properties which   
     are not currently but could be made into accessible/adaptable homes. 

      
A full-time OT post would cost in the region of £50k (including on-costs). Basing the 
dedicated housing OT post within the existing (Independent Living Service), enables 

Page 13



 14 

them to benefit from the Professional and case management supervision and training 
available there, facilitating leave cover and enabling alignment of practice.  However, 
this would also include an element of management/oversight and close alignment 
(including some elements of co-location – post pandemic) with the Housing Options 
Service to ensure that the role is able to respond to the service requirements in a 
flexible manner. 
 
Following discussion at Salford Strategic Housing Partnership a decision has been 
made to pursue a bid for CCG Innovation Funding to fund a 12-month pilot, recruited 
by the community OT service, and this is the option of choice in order to help address 
the backlog of applicants that need to be assessed. 
 
However, it is of note that the Integrated Care Organisation is also currently reviewing 
the existing Community OT service business case and senior managers have request 
that this proposal is linked into that review to ensure the  longevity of the work, and as 
a second option should the Innovation fund prove to be unsuccessful. 
 

B. Retain the current choice-based lettings systems and processes – all be it with some 
changes: 
 
Although, the resources are already available, and systems are already in place, all 
members were in agreement that this is not the preferred option. While the choice-
based lettings scheme itself is transparent and equitable, it is not the best, most 
accurate or appropriate method for matching this scarce resource to those with very 
complex needs, who most need it. 

 
This process is the least timely and least effective of all the options, with the potential 
for greatest negative impact on staffing resources and applicants experience. It is 
also considered the most bureaucratic process because of the need to wade through 
many inappropriate/unsuitable bidders before identifying potential applicants, and due 
to the repeated need to offer properties to different households before a suitable offer 
can be made.  
 
Discussions among the group elicited the view that the current processes cannot be 
changed to sufficiently enable effective matching of properties to those who need 
them. Improvements in advertisements of properties are likely to elicit only limited 
improvements due to a range of challenges including: the fact that many applicants 
do not read adverts properly, many applicants over and sometimes under report their 
needs in order to secure a home more quickly and many disabled applicants needs 
are extremely complex. 

 
C. Production of a nominations list from the system for all adapted and family sized 

accessible properties: 
 
The group explored this option and identified that this option might enable better 
matching of properties to people who need them, than the current processes. 
However, it was thought that the improvements would be limited due to the 
complexity of people’s needs, combined with the fact that every property is 
completely different. 

 
D. A panel approach (including the letting RP, Housing Options and OT) who meet 

(including virtual meetings to facilitate these in a timely way) to discuss 
cases/properties in detail and who agree on offers, when properties become 
available. 

o The majority of members of the group were in agreement that this option was 
their preferred approach.  

Page 14



 15 

o With key stakeholders around the table this approach enables significantly 
better understanding of applicant’s needs, what is already available within the 
property, as well as how the property could be adapted. This approach 
enables the best method of matching those: in greatest need, waiting the 
longest, who best match what the property has/could offer.  

o In the event of any disagreement the advertising landlord would have the final 
decision.  

o The use of ICT would enable quickly arranged meetings among the members 
via Microsoft Teams or Skype, if necessary. 

o This option is considered the timeliest and least bureaucratic, enabling 
better/quicker suitability decisions, thus reducing impacts on staffing 
resources and customers 

o Furthermore, all those cases who would normally be considered for an 
internal management move could equally be discussed at the panel, with 
needs discussed within the context of wider applicant’s needs, so that the 
most informed decisions can be made. The nature of the panel approach, 
along with a dedicated housing OT would enable urgent meetings to discuss 
these cases and enable assessments/visits at short notice. 

o This process would be the most transparent and equitable and afford the most 
accurate decisions around offers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 16 

 
Appendix C: A selection of other GM local authority approaches to the allocation of 
adapted/wheelchair housing 
 

 Oldham - fully adapted including wheelchair accessible properties are not allocated 
through the CBL system. They have a separate register for households with this 
need.  Applicants are assessed by the Occupational Therapist (OT) and they 
determine/agree if they need this type of property.  When a property becomes 
available, the OT will refer to this register and look to identify the most suitable 
household for the property.  If there are multiple households then the OT applies the 
principles of CBL, as in who has been in the highest band the longest.  

 Manchester – A team of 3 (including 2x OT’s) within Manchester Move do all 
assessments and matching for all applications. Most are advertised on CBL and then 
the let is made to the best match. 

 Bolton – operate an adapted housing register for which there must be 
OT/independent living team assessments/referral. AHR cases can either be directly 
matched and/or let’s can be advertised whereby AHR applicants are reviewed on a 
short list. Properties are notionally identified as adapted/level access/wheelchair 
accessible. 

 Bury – All applications are assessed by the Councils housing OT’s (x2 OT’s)   
prior to being registered and property requirements are identified. The OT will match 
properties with major adaptations to people who require them. Those with minor 
adaptations go through CBL. The OT will then go through the bid list to ensure a 
match between applicants needs and the property. Provision offers are followed by 
OT and applicant visit. Both OT posts are full time and they also do assessments for 
extra care housing and retirement living schemes. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 17 

 

Appendix D – Procedural changes 
 

 

Applicant assessments: 
 
Under the current Salford Home Search system - The OT will gradually work through the 
existing Accessible Accommodation Category applications in the following order: 

 SN1 = 3 plus beds 

 SN1 = 1&2 beds 

 SN3 = 3 plus beds 

 SN4 = 3 plus beds 
Assessing the oldest cases first, without an up to date OT report. 

 
Once the new Locata system (which is being commissioned) is implemented, all applicants 
will need to re-register, from that point on: 

 Housing Options will alert the OT of re-registered applications for all SN1 and SN3/4 
x 3 plus properties and the OT will assess those cases as they come through, without 
an up to date OT assessment, 
 

N:B – it may be difficult to prioritise cases by focussing on SN1 cases first, because it will be 
dependent upon who submits their re-registration first – the OT will need to work flexibly, but 
prioritise the SN1 cases for assessment, where possible. 
 
Allocations procedures: 

 When properties become available the RP will notify Housing Options, providing as 
much information as possible about the property. 

 Housing Options facilitate a panel meeting (including RP, OT and Housing Options) 
as soon as possible – using Microsoft Teams/Zoom, as necessary 

 A household list/report will be generated from the register, and the OT will identify the 
top 10 likely applicants to be suitable for the property, securing all relevant 
information available. 

 Panel discussion will take place to identify the top case (s) that is/are suitable for the 
property. 

 The RP will liaise with the most suitable applicant about the offer and will co-ordinate 
a joint applicant/OT visit to the property 

 Occasionally cases/properties may be more straight forward, and a joint OT visit may 
not be required – decided on a case by case basis 

 The RP will generate the final offer letter including liaison with the Homeless Team 
(as appropriate) 

 The existing 2 offer rule will remain in place – to be assessed as part of the pilot 

 All SN3 & SN4 x 1 & 2 bed properties will continue to be let through the choice-based 
lettings system as per current arrangements 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a A report on the proposal to secure funding for a housing allocations Occupational Therapist pilot post, and subject to award, a 12-month pilot to test the effectiveness of a panel approach to the allocation of accessible and adapted housing.

